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Commission, which presentec after a great deal of study, a proposed charter to
the County Council that would replace the 1948 charter as amended, and I was one
of two members of that Commission that dissented.

MRS. HINCKLE: How larqge was the Commission?

MR. SIMS: Tha Commission was fourteen members, two members having been
appointed by each membsr of the County Cuouncil. That'!s where tha
figure fourteen comes from. It was a commission, in my judgment,

much too large for the job, and I think we wouyld have been able to do a better job

if it hadn't besn that large, but of course that is a matter of opinion. Many
pecple think that the larger the organization, the more representative it is. Thus
the state legislature of New Hampshire has over 400 members. The Cuwnty Council,
or Board of Supervisors as it is called, of Westchester County, N.Y. has, I think,

46 members. 1 think this makes for an unwieldy organization, and I'm glad our

prasent County Cuuncil here in Montgomery County has only snven.

Mrs. Hinckle, I think we might just start our interview here with a piece of
philosophy that I had had, and I suppose I don't have it any more. When I first
moved to this county thirty-one years ano, and began to know it really about two
years after that, 1 began to have the feeling that I would like to do whatever I
could to make this county a model county——both in terms of living conditions and
in torms of government, an absolutely model county comparad with others throughout
the United States. 1t was in 1943 that I really began to try to do something. Su
we might go back to that time.

We (Mrs. Sims and I) built this house in the fall of 1940 and moved into it

in February of 1941. We are still living in this same house, 30 now I bagin to

fesl as though I'm a senior citizen so far as length of residence is cBncerned,

and 1 maybe have some ressun to speak.



In 1942, following the study of the Brookings Institution of 1940, a great
book, about 800 pages, there started a movement to change the type of governn :
and to improve it a great deal. The Brookings Institution offered many, many
criticisms of what had been going on at that time, and it ended up with the
statement: "Montgomery County has outgrown its form of government."

This study was instigated rsally by the Montgomery County Civic fedsration,
of which I was later an active member, but I had nothing to do with the origins
of this Brookings Institution study. The County, as I understand it, put up
five thousand dollars and Brookings put up another twenty-five thousand dollars,
resulting in this thorough study, which was published in 1940,

In 1941, the Montgomery County Civic Federation really sired the Montgomsry
County Charter Committee, which started aut to be a committee of what sounded like
not very many people. It ended up, by the way, being two thousand; it really
became a league for good govornment. So tho name "committee" is something of a
misnomer. The Commitiee became polilically aclive in the sense that it got peti-
tions around to get onto the ballot of November 1942 a proposal to get elected a
Charter Board that would frame a charter. This issua was fought by the peopls
then in charge of the County which was known to them as "thoc organizaetion" and
was known to thae opponents as "the machine," Probably it was both., The ring
leader in "the organization" — or, if you like, "the maching" —-- was Colonel E,.
Brooke Lee, who himself had bean an active member of the Montgomery County Civic
Federation, but had bccome tremenduusly interested in politics, and as a matter of

fact, he was known throughout the county as the "county political boss."™ Many

people disavowed Lhe truth of that allegation, but my experience subseguently

would bear out that this title was woll doserved, well deserved. 1In 1942, the
people did go to the polls and said, in effects ™There can be no harm in electing

five peopls to draft a charter; then the people have to vote on that charter in



November 19443 why not see what they come up with?" So this was done, and the
vote was fairly substantial in favor of this happening. Then according to ths
State Constitution and Article 11A, the Charter Board held hearings and drafted

a chartar, and six months later, which was required by the provision, filed th

charter.

Now that's when I bacame acquainted with what was going on in Montgomery
County. But I was learning. I was not producing anything.

MRS, HINCKLES Were you a member of the Civic Federation?

MR, SIMS: i1 was a member of the Civic Federation by this time, and became
chairman of its Committee on Public Finance and Budget, and in
that capacity, since finance and taxes are involved in almost

everything you do in county government, I found myself interoested in all aspects

of the county. Anyway, that was my bent. But with regard to the first Charter

Board, I was learning rather than producing primarily. 1 attended some of tho

hearings; and some of the men who were older than I, but much experienced in

local government, including my then Chief of the Governments Division in the

Census Bureau, teskified at the hearings.

The chairman of the Charter Board was a tremendously wonderful man by the
name of Frederick P, Loe==and we always have to say "no relation to Col. E. Brooke
Lee.," At that time thoy were, of course, confused by many people. Fraderick P.
Lee, by profession a constitutional lawyer and student of government--Federal,
state, and local--was the chairman ol the Board and the ringleader. The other
four members of the first Charter Hoard were Thomas M. Anderson, now a Judge of
the Court of Appeals in Maryland; Tarlton Brooke, who died a fow years agoj Alice
Hostetler, who is still active, and at that time was, I believe, Praesident of the

League of Women Voters; and Stephen James, who died a few years ago and was at



that time very active in the Montgomery County Civic federation. iose four with

Frederick P. Lee constituted the first Charter Board.

MRS. HINCKLE: i1t was & very distinguighed Board,

MR. SIMSs 1t certainly was. Ths charter prepared by that Board was submitted
to what was then called the Board of County Commissioners — now
wa would say the County Council -— on May 4, 1943. Then, on

November 7, 1944, in other words, 18 months afterwards, the psople voted on that

charter,

It eeems strange to give the Charter Board only six months to prepare the
charter and then to put it in cold storage and have it voted on 18 months later.
The reason for this is that that is the stete provision {constitutional requirement},

Now it 1s well to say what went on during those 18 months,

MAS. HINCKLE: €ould they have been active {or 18 months?

MRs SIMS: There wasn't much action the first 6, 8, or 10 months so far as
the general public knew., But the Montgomsry County Charter
Lommittece was becoming active. And then, of course, during the

late summer and early fall of 1944, tho campainn went on simply tremendously, and

1 suppaose this was a time in my life when [ could say, with Longfellow, "Bliss was

it in those days to bo alive, but to be younyg was very heaven,”™ 1 listened, I

didn't debate, myself, at that time. I listencdy I went around to the debates,

much a&s one would yo Lo the movies, Thuse wure tremendovus shows, The debatsrs

on both sides wera excollent, and I learned a great deal.

We thought that we could win The debates were heated, the debates were well
altended, the ne osapers both in the cuuniy and in Washinglon were filled with tho

news, people were talking about it, and penple seemsd to understand a great deal.
And this lasted for several montha, from midsummer or a little later until the

clection Novembher 7, You hardly had time to do anything else except talk charter

and work on it, listen, put up postors, and so on.



Of course, tha charter isue was non-partisan officially, so I as a Federal
employee could engage in it as Treely as I wished. Since at that time I had no
children and since my wife was interested in it elso, we just spent a great deal
of time and effort.

At that time I was chairman of tne Montgomery County Civic fedsration's Com-
mittee on Public finance and Budget. I was active on aspects that seemed to
relate, I would be testifying on the budget before the Board of County Commission-
ers esach of five years, because I served as chairman of that committes for five
yBars.

I was also at that timo vice-chairman of the Charter Committee's Research
Committes, with John F, Willmott as chairman, and in that capacity we wrote liter=
ature and appeared on the radio. He and I would go and interview various officials
around either in our Civic Federation capacity or in our Chartor Research Committes
capacitye.

I remember making a speech, it was not a debate, before the Edgemoor Citizens
Association in early September of %44, in which I recall clearly saying that we
Charter people, and those thinking as we did, ought to conduct this 1944 campaign
as cleanly and as well above board as we possibly could, for tws: reasons. One is,
"It*s more fun to win that way," waid I. Secondly, "Ws probably are going to°
win and we're going to have to livo with theso pecple [Eﬁu "machine" paopl§7 aft
wards in this wonderful county, and it's going to bo a lot hatter if we conduct
the campalgn cleanly and above board." Well, as I said, this was soon after Labor
Day of 1944. Little did ~ know what was coming.

The apposition was much more ruthless than I had expected. I suppase this

reflects a lack of sophistication in my academic preparation in the field of state
and local government, which now if I were teaching a course in that subject I woul:

teach a little differently from what I learned.



You really have to be p1 , ared f{or campaigning that is not fair. This I
was not prepared for, and I think the Charter Committes of 1944 was not prepared
for either. Let me give you some examples., First, we were at war, you will
remember, and many, many soldiers and sailors and what we now would call airmen
wers overseas. The only absentee voting provision that Maryland had at the time
was for members of the Armed Services. So the opponents to Charter in the fall of
'44, unbeknownst of course to those of us who favored it, sent out a letter to all
the men overseas signed by Dutch Bergman, who at that time was a well-known foot=-
ball coach (University of Michigan, I believo) who had come to Washington. He
now is chairman of the D.C. Armory Board, by the wey. This was a name that was
well known to young men interested in football. The letter was also signed by
one other man, whose name I don't remember. I don't think Dutch Bergman had any
real knouledge about Charterj his name was "used.”

This letter was sent to all the men overseas, and the gist of it was that
something was being put over on them while they were away. Thay cited World War I,
during which prohibition was installed in the United States, and said, (in effect)
"prohibition was put over on the men of World War I while they were awsay. Now,
in your county, something is being put over on you while you ara away. If this
Charter is adopted, thare will be a Civil Service system, which will keep almost
all of you men {rum ever being employed in the Montgomery County government,”

Now this, of course, was not based on truth whatsocaver.

And how did ws learn about it? Woll, Mr, James Bennett, then Diractor of
the Bureau of Prisons, and his wife, Maric Bennett, subsoquuontly President of the
League of Women Voters, and at that time chairman of the Speakers Bureau of the

Charter Committes, had a son overseas. He wrote to this parents and said (in

effect), "Encloused is this letter. I do not understand ity but I know it can't

be true. Wwhat in the world is it all about?" It arrived too late, because thsg

letter had been sent to the men overseas at the right time — late you
M Sea.



There was naver any opportunity for the proponents of ths Charter and thelir
supporters to reply and to get the message out to the men overseas that this was
simply not so. 50 when the absentea vote came in, actually after the November 7
election, it was 3 to 1 against the Charter.

MRS. HINCKLES Do you know the numbers of the absentea ballotsa?

MR. SIMS: i don't know the numbers of f—hand, but 1 do know that even if we
had won all of the ebsentee ballots we wouldn't quite have bee
successful. The actual vote on the Cherter was 53% against it,

and 47% for it, and there weren't encugh absentee ballots to swing it in our

favor. But it would have helped.

Now another tactic that the opposition used, which of course surprised us,
was a letter to all the negro residents of Montgomery County, at least the negro
voters——at that time they could be identified easily-——and this letter said (in
affect), "Back in 1863, Abraham Lincoln gave you people the citizenship. WNow in
this county there is a movement that would take the vote away from you, because
you cannot vote for the €ounty Manager if Charter is voted in."

MRS. HINCKLE: In a sense that was true,

MR. SIMS: Of course, neithor could the white people, because poople don't
vote for a county manager or a city menagar.

A third example of the tactics that the upposition used to defeat the proposed
charter in 1944 was a meeting that was held in mid-October in the armory in Silver
Spring, billed as a "Roosevelt Rally." (This was to be the fourth election of
Mresident Roocevelt.) A lot of pooplo came, a lot of people. When the people
arrived-—presumably all Democrats, or puople leaning toward Roosevelt at least—-

on the seat of everv chalr in the armory was some anti-Charter literature, so that

Lhe impression that the peoplo got who didn't know vary much about what the Charter



was for, was that if you were a Democrat, and if you favored the re-election of
president Roosevelt, then you should vote against the Charter.

Well, es everybody knows, Roosevelt carried Montgomery County, as he did
the nation, and this was an extremely effective political tactic; but it was not
honest or fair. The mesting was billed as one thing, and was really for the
purpose of defeating the Charter.

MAS. HINCKLES Thay had to have gotten permission to give out this literature
from somebody. Where is this armory where the rally was held?

MR. SIM53 This armory is in Silver Spring. It's interesting, becausse I've
just referred to the Armory Board that was downtown, where Dutch
Bergman was and still is, whereas this rally was held in Silver
Spring. Tha gist of the meeting was really about the Charter and how terrible
it would be if people voted it in.
Actually, my own impression was then, and still is, that the anti-Charterites
wera not really very enthusiastic about the re-election of President Roosevelt,
He was of the same party, nominally, but the effort of "the machine," as we called
it, during the campaign of 1944 was anti-Charter. The campaign was not for
national offices, including the re-election of President Roosevelt. The effort
here was overwhelmingly to defeat the Chartar and was succassful.
A fourth tactic used by the opposition was to get a car with a public
addruss system un it, the veico coming oul sayings "People should vote against
the Charter, becauss if you vole this Charter in, the schools will be damagoad.
You cannot have any new school buildings if this Charter is adopted. Vote NO
on the Charter issue.”
Now, what was back of that? There was a state provision which said that the
amount of debt, bonded indebtedness, of any chartered county could not be more

than 7%, so at lcast there was some slight case for this. Soon thereafter, the
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legislature raised the 7% to 7 &, and thera's never been any problem whatsoever

about floating bonds for school buildings, and as everyone knows, schools have

grown tremendously in this county, and school building has been just overwhelming
in all of the years since 1944. So there was just a grain of truth in this tactic,
and it was expanded unbelievably., But it did affect a lot of people who had
children in school and who were fearful that their children would not have a good
education if Ythis bad old Charter" would be adopted.

These are four examples of the technigues our opponents usad.

MRS, HINCKLE: Thoy were determined to defeat the Charter, the opposition.

MR. 5IMS5: The opposition was tremendously determined., Now a lot of peaple
at that time thought that this (the Charter movement) was just a
vendatta against E. Brooke Lee and his associates. The result was

that many Republicans associated themselves with this movement just for that reason,

but of course the main thing was that we wanted a different form of gover nent.

We wanted hame rule, so that our local lsws were not passad in Annapolis by the

state legislature, but that our local laws wesre to be passed right here in Mont-

gomgry County. 5o we wanted home rule.

We also wanted the council-manager form of government: then we wanted all the
things that go with it, such as centralized purchasing, better personnel system,
honesty in government, responsiveness in qovernment, public hearings on bills and
other matters that were coming up, improvemants in zoning, and a ge-ting away from
what many people regarded at the time as really "ane-man government," E. Brooke Lee.
So it was really a comolnation of folks working for bettser governmant in ganeral
and to some extent Republicans and, of courss, to some extent just plain dissident
Oemocrats.

MRS. HINCKLE? It was a non-parltisan qroup, really,
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MR. SIMSs We thought of it as non-partisan. It was tri-partisan, you might
sayj that is, the whole movement was tri~partisan, because we had
two factions f the Democratic party involved, one opposing the

Charter and the other in faver of the Charter, and then most of the Republicans

wara in favor of the Charter. But there were a lot of Republicans who didn't

favor the Charter too. This really cannot be determined axactly.

MRS, HINCKLES They were the silent majority of that time.

MR, SIMS: 1t always made me a little uncomfortable to have Brooke Lee and
others say that this wss a Republican move, becauss actually there
wera many more Democrats in the Montgomery County Charter Committee

than there were Republicans, partially because of the general distribution at that

time of partisan registration in Montgomery County. When Mrs, Sims and I moved

to Montgomery County in February of 1941, the Republicans held hardly any influence

at all; so if you wanted to have any influence in the government, you were smart

to register Democratic so you could vote in the Democratic primary. What happened
to many people was, many people—even those believing Republican-~wise at the
national level--registered Democratic in Montgomery County and then voted against

"the machine" in the May primary, and lost, and then votad against "the machine"

in November by voting Republican.

MRS. HINCKLE: That stlll happens, not Lhat they're votinn against "ihe machine,®
but Lhe registration lists are still more Oemocratic than thoy
ultimately vote in November, and parhaps this is a carryover from
people who did come at that time and nover bothered to change

their registration.

MR. SIMS: I thipk that's true, Now frequently in the Republican primary,
so far as the state government and the local governmant are con-

cerned, there is some real opportunity for choice in the Republican

Party. This year, of course, at the national level there isn't much reason to

raegister Republican (in order to vote In the Republican primary), but in many years

there is,
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Now those were among the things that were going on in 1944. As I said before,
the debaters were tremendous, Probably the best debater on the anti side was
Roger Whiteford, who lived in Chevy Chass., He disd a faw years ago. He was
Brooks Lee's personal attorney and a real capable man; Ha was a capable debater.
Actually, by the end of the campaign I had been so much educated in this field,
and 1 used to go to the meetings to keep track of the errors he enunciated, that
I began to fesl that I myself would like to debate him. This would at that time
have been like David debating Goliath. 8ut I never had a chance to find out
whether I could have bested him or not. He did not debata in the '46 and '48
campaigns, but as I said, he was the leading debater on thzt side in '44. Another
of their prominent debaters was Al Brsault, of whom I have lost complete track,

MRS5. HINCKLE? Did you do anything with the errorse you did detect in Roger
Whiteford's debates?

MR, 5IMS3 I can't say that I did do anything with those errors except to
point them out to other people over the luncheon table ar something
of that kinde I did do some speaking around, but I didn't do any

debating in the "44 campeign.

Well, we came close to winning, and 1 remembar assembling in the offices of
the Montgomery County Charter Committee, then on Wisconsin Avenue in Bethsesda.
Stella Werner was the Executive Director of the Charter Committen, and Allan
Sardner, whose nane I should have mentioned earlier, was President of the Charter
Lommittee, the original ringleader. || used Lo call him the Goorge Washington ef
the Charter Commitfeo. I romomber ascembling in the officaes thore, and heaving
over the radie the results as they come in, and toward the end it began to look as
though we were losing. Then I remember Stella Werner and her daughter Stella, whao

~4s then a tesonager, crying because we had been defeated. Wo had worked so hard.

Peaple could hardly realize how hard we had workede I said, "Well, this is the

end, this is the end,"
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Howsver, 1 wrote a latter the ncxt day to Allen Gardner, then president of
the Montgomsry Charter Committee, and I remember starting out: "Dear Allen
count me as one who is willing to start all over again." I'm a squirrel, Wwho's
going to do this besides me?
MAS. HINCKLE: tspecially when your heart must have been broken.
MR. S5IMS: It takes four years to do this, because of the double cycle. First
you have to get it on the ballot; that means that you have to have
a campaign and be successful just to get it on the ballot. 0o ws
want to have a charter board and have a charter drafted, Yes or No? And if you
win, then you do have a charter drafted. Then you have to vote on that charter
as drafted, no changes. S5So in Meryland, it's a four-year cycle. Maryland is the
only state in the union I know of where either county home rule or city home rule
requires a four-year cycle.
This was 1944, and I was considerably younger than I am in 1972, when this
is being recorded. So I thought, woll, I will be one of the few squirrels in the
county that will ba willing to start all over again. Maybe there might ba some
others; at least it's npice to put it on the recﬁrd, I thought theﬁ.
Well, lo and behold, there were a Aot of us willing to start all over again,

MRS. HINCKLES Were thera feelings of bitterness because of the tactics used by
the opposition?

Mite SIMSs Yes, and by this time I was bitter too, and thought how naive I
had been two months before in early September to talk to the
Ldgemoor Citizens Association and say, "Let's make a nice cloan
campaign because (a) it's more fun tu win that way and (b) we'ras going to have to
liva with these people after we win."

MRS. HINCKLES® But they didn't carc if they had to live wilh you,

MR. SIMS: They were experienced politicians and we really weren't.
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County should have a post-war planning committes, 1 remember very well, being a
mamper of the Civic Fsderation a£ the time, thinking that we should do this, and
I vieualized e committes of fine intelligent citizens, probably around seven,

Well, out came the committes, hundreds on itt Then more and more were eddad,
and the committee eventually had 700 people on it. Tids was "the machine's"
answer to the Civic Federstion. 1t was completely unwieldy, of course; therefore
*the machine"™ could be in charge of it. "The machine" still had, of course, thne
members of the Board of County Commissioners, five of them; it still hed the
delegation to the stats legislature; it still had control of the Maryland-National
Capital Park and Planning Commission; it still had control of the Washington
Suburban Sanitary Commission, and the liquor control board, and anything slse
that anyone of us could think of. 50 it named a lot of these people and many
others, and then welcomed anyone else that wanted to be on the committase. The
result was the insiders controlled this great big Post-War Planning Committea.

At either the first or second meeting, the second T believe, at which I
suppose about half of the 700 attendrd and a lot of nthers who ware not memberas
of the committee—I was a member of course—the Cheirman of the committes called
upon one of the prominent members of "the machine,™ a local attorney who was, I
believe, a member of the state delengation at the time, to make a report and some
recommendations. 1 sat there and aimost fell out of my chair as did, I suppoas,
practically everybody else; both thoze who had favorsd the Charter and those who
had opposed the Charter, because out cams, ss 1 recell, ten recommendations,

One was to have a county manager. Wahool One was to have a merit system, a
civil service systeml One was to have contrulized purchasingl  You can go tight

down the list, about ten things, and those were the main anes, that we had just

been advocating and that the opposilion had just opposed. The point of this,
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I suppose, was that they feared a renewal of effort, and they thought they could
steal our fire.

Well, of course, when it came to a county manager, we thought this was just
'ine, There were additional meetings of the committee, and sub-committees werse
appointed. When we got right down to brass tacks, however, they didn't favor a
county manager; they sald they favored a "county supervisor." UWa didn't care too
much about the title; tha main thing was what was this appointee to do? He would
be appointed, of course, by the Board of County Commissioners., There was a sub=-
committee appointed to study this. There was a lot of argument about this, and
the main point of argument was between those who favored a strong, garden-variety
county manager and those of the political "machine" who didn't want a strong,
garden-variety county manager. 1hey wanted a weak position, sort of like a chiaf
clerk.

The result of all this was that there was set up a job called "County Super-
visor;" the job was really a weak county manager. The county commissioners were
still very much in charge, and behind them was the political boss, Col., E. Brogke
Lee.

The first person that the commissicners (E. Brooke Lee, actually) appointed
was Willard Day, who was a reputable city manager and county manager. He had been,
and was at that time, county nager of Henrico County, Va., which is the county
that lies immediately ocutside Richmond. He had a good reputation as a capable
man, as a strong manager. Why he accoptod the job, we proponents were somewhat
puzzled about. But he did come. He didn't stay long. I never got to know him
very well. I think that he didn't feol comfortable in this watered-down county
manager kind of a job.

MRS, HINCKLE: Dig he stay 3 year?

MR, SIMS: I think he stayed ahbout a yaar,.
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MRS. HINCKLE: Wwas this an attempt on the part of E. grooke Lea to pacify Fhe
bitterness that he must, in this practical way, have recognized
that he had aroused by the tactics of opposing and having the
Charter defeated? Was this his own way of trying to prevent the
second Charter movement?

MR. SIMSs I think this was exactly that. Yes, I think he felt if they could
still keep charge, but at the same time could give us a good mg ¢
of the things we wanted, that then they would stay in chargs,

With genuine home rule and with the council-manager form of governmaent, I think

he felt that his influence would bo reduced tremendously and perhaps aliminated,

which turned out to be the truth a few years later.

It would be interesting to back up here a little and take something a little
out of chronology. In January 1943, the political "machine" had {eared the possible
adoption of the Charter, which was then being drafted, and put through what we
reformers called "charter—evasion legislation.™ Ona of the things that they di
was ta transfer from the county government, which was elacted by the people, to
the Maryland-Natienal Capital Park and Planning Commission, which was not elected,
the functions of building inspection and electrigal inspecticon. Ncw anyone that
knows anything about local government knows that if you can control building
inspection and electrical inspection, you can control a great many things in a
Jocal government.

This was put through the state legislature simply because the delegation
from Montgomery County wanted it. The way the Maryland leglslature works is that
the delegation from one county votes "yes" on another county's requests as a
reciprocal thing; it's backscratching., You have "local legislation™ in the state
legislature. What it means really is the local delegation is simply your local

county council but located in Annapolis instead of at home. People don't get over

to Annapolls very wmuchj; iL's partic truec if you're from a distant county,



like Washington County or St. Mary's County or over on the Eastern Shore. Eve
montgomery County people, then or today, don't get over to Annapolls anywhers
near as much as they should.

Another example of what we then called charter-evasion legislation—legisla-
tion that would still stay in sffect even though the Charter might be voted in,
in November 1944—was a law that Brooke Lee and the county delegation got passed
in the winter of 1943. This was only two or three months after the Charter Board
had been elected in November 1942, At this time ] was a fairly new member of the
Montgomery County Civic Federation but, as I recall, already was chairman of the
Committee on Public Finance and Budget in 1943,

This law was a far-reaching law., It provided for a tremendous increase in
the powers of the Maryland-National Capital Park and Planning Commission. In
addition to building inspection and electrical inspection, this lesw provided that
the Executive Vice President of the Commission, who was—=—who do you supposa?—

E. Brooke Les, serving part-time, could, at any time that he wished, duclare that
the job required full-time and that the salary would be upped accordingly. Wao,
of course, thought that this wasn't really a good ideal

It also gave additional powers to the Park and Planning Commission. It pro-
vided that, if the Commission wanted to, it could appoint policemen for the parks,.
e objected to that; we said we have county police., It strengthened the Park and
Planning Commission tremendously. Both the Senate and the House of Delegates
snacted this law because the Montgomery County delegation said they wanted it.

We Charterites didn*t hear about it for quite a while, and I don't know if
anybody testified on this and against it or not. It sesms to me that we did, but
we didn't realize probably tha significance of it. I believe we did testify
against it in the Silver Spring Armory, but we didn't realize how significant it

really would be. So after the Senate and the House of Oelegates had passed this
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bill, but before the Governor signed it, we really became alarmed at the
provisions.,

The Civic Fedsration went on record as opposing it and also opposing soma
other legislation, and I was designated to telk on this particular subject at a
hearing before Governor O'Connor over in the House of Delegates chamber in Annap-
olis. I remember several of us went over, and the others tastified on their billa
asking the Governor not to sign the bills. My role was to testify ageinst this
bill and to aesk the Governor not to sign it,

At this time I suppose I would have been classified as a freshman in the
Civic Federation, and I was, I now know, more vigorous in my testimony than the
Civic Federation actually expected, and e few people let me know this. I remember
that I wes extremely vigorous. I hadn't memorized what I wanted to say and 1
hadn®t written it out in detail, but I had made a pretty good outline of what I
wanted to say. I recall clearly now that 1 said what I wanted to say with gresat
viger and made a plea to the Governor to “save us" from this practically disas-
trous idea. This, of course, resulted in some mild criticism from some members
of the Civic Federation,.

But I remember much more clearly what happenad immediately after my testimony.,
A man whom I knaw very alightly, a man who was probably fifteen years older than
1, a man who was President of the Montgomery County Charter Ccmmittee, a Mr. Allen
Gardner, rushed over to mc and said, "Call me Allen!”™ I was thrilled. Here was
a young man apparently who had done something that pleased the "George Washington"
af the Montgomery County Charter Committee tremsndously., So I sort of felt I was

on my way, and the slight criticism that I rcceived for being too vigorous as

member of the Civic Federation sort of faded away.

Now if I had been speaking as a member of the Charter Committee, no one could

have objected to my vigor. The Civic ledaration 1s also non-partisan, but it
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regards itself as scholarly and representative; and though it tekes stands on
things it doesn't wage campaigns, whersas the Charter Committea was really
waging a campaign. 1 remember this very well,

I wish that I could report that 1 was successful, that the Governor didn't
sign the bill, but no, he did sign the 11.

MRS, HINCKLE: He was probably an old friend of Brook: _ea,

MAR. SIMS: Gov. O0'Connor was in touch closely with Brooke Les. Not sa much
as a succeeding Governor, Gov. Preston Lane, who was a real pal
of E. Brooke Lee from World War I days. But Gov. O'Connor was

influenced tremendously.

MHS. HINCKLE: Theodors McKeldin might have not signed it.

MR. 5IMS: Yes, now if McKeldin had been Govsrnor—-McKeldin was elected
Governor in 1950 and re-elected in 1954, Of course he was of
the opposite party. This is a case where we would have been

helped, because the local Democratic machine here in our county was in charge.

It paid for the Gavernor or other Democrats of the state to pay attention to the

machine Democrats in charge of Mantgomery County-—not to ths dissident Democrats,
and surely not to the Republicans.

So we lost op that bill; we lost on the building inspectioni we lost on
electrical inspection; and we did not gat what we thought we were going to get in
the county manager, or in the Post-war Planning Committee., GSo again it was uphill.

Another piece of legislation that we lost on is perhaps even mora interesting.
This is the Lindsay Law——of 1945. Hardly anybody knpows about this now, but people
should know about it. This is the kind of tactics thet werse employed,

It became clear (in the winter of 1945) that the Charter Committee might make

another attempt at home rule, and one of the provisions of the first charter was



that we should have non-partisan elections of the County Council. This is some-—
thing that made great sense to me. I grew up in southern Califeornia, and non-
partisan elections are taken for granted at the local level. People out there
don't even know which party the mayor or a city councilman belongs to, because
what difference does it make whether you're a Democrat or a Republican so far
as the services are concerned? People whou have grown up in communities where
there's always been the two national parties operating locally--this is not under~
standable to them.

The first charter provided for non-partisan elections. This would, if
adopted, have made the Democratic political machine here difficult to operate.

One day a very good friend of mine who had worked closely with us, Mrs.
Edith Dinwoodey, and with whom I later served for six years on the County Personnel

doard, read in the Baltimore Sun, to which she subscribed (I also subscribe in the

winter of 1943 and the winter of 1945, because you qot better reporting there)—
she read in very fine print that a bill had been introduced by Sen., Lindsay of
Baltimore County that had to do with elections in any chartered county. She became
a littla suspicious thaet maybe we should know somes more about this., She telephoned
Allan Gerdner, whe was then President of the Charter Committes, and was a practicing
attorney, and said in effect, "Allen, isn't this something that might be of interest
to us?" He said, "I think it might be; 1'11 look it up and cee what this bill is,"
it turned cut that our county delegation, in arder to keep all of this guist,
had asked the senator rrom another county, namely Baltimore County, and this man
was Sen. Lindsay, just ac a courtesy to introduce this bill sc that people in
Montgomery County wouldn't be alerted in the least bit. [t would take a person
like Mr. Gardner ur Mrs. Uinwoodey or some 0bHOC. e ..

MRS. HINCKLE: Like yourself
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MA. SIMSs Conceivably myself—though I missed this—although I, too, used

to read all that fine print. Maybe I didn't read it; or maybe if

I did, it didn't ring any bell, At this particular time thers
was no other county that had home rule. And of the 23 counties, Montgomery was
the only one even trying to get home rule, and only one other had ever tried to
get home rule, namely Baltimore County, wiich lost in 1920, So if Sen. Lindsay
was introducing a bill having to do with chartersed counties, maybe this had some-
thing to do with Muntgomery County, thought Edith Dinwoodey. Allen Gardner Jooked
it up and sure enough, it did have. But even when you read the blll, unliess you
knew a lot about this, you still wouldn't have any idea that it might be pertinent.
The bill simply said that any chartered county must elect its county coundil on
the same basis that the members of the state legislature are elocted. That
sounded perfectly innocuous. Why, of course. But what did it mean? It meant
that the county council in a chartered county would have to be elected on a
partisan basis, because the delegates and the state senators are elected on a
partisan basise.

This bill was deviously introduced, 1 would say, in the dead of night—I don't
know if that is literally true--and indirectly, by a man from another county. It
was thrown (assigned) to the finance committee in aach of the two houses, again so
that people wouldn't be alerted to what this was all about. And it pasaed both
houses and was signed by the Governor.

The result is that today the Lindsay Law is still on the statute books, and
I suppose it will stay on tho statute books. [he movement for non=partisanship
in Montgomery County has, I am sure, passed., People don't understand it very well;
and if they haven't had experience wilh it, they don't Lelieve in it.

MRS, HINCKLE: In Rockville, Lhey bhave non—-partisan elections.
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MR, SIMS: Yes, in Rockville they do, and in other communitiss around in
Montgomery County—the local governments. The school board--that
is, the Board of Education—in Montgomary County, which is the

only elected school board in Maryland, is elected on a non-~partisan basis,

Federal employees can serve, which they do; they can campaign for thase peopls,

which I have done (in one year extremely vigorously), and you can do anything you

want to. I still see no disadvantage in this system, and I can sse plenty of
advantages to it. I can see plenty of disadvantages to having our local govern-
ment, County Council, elected on a partisan basis.

This (the introduction and passage of the Lindsay Law) is an example of whal
wa "good citizens®™ were up against in those early days.

MRS, HINCKLE: That was reforred to as "storm cellar legislation,™ wasn't it?
kare there other pieces of storm cellar legislation in the 1945
period?

MR, SIMS: ] uze the torm Ycharter-avasion legislation" for the legislation
whiich was pubt through in '43. This Lindsay bLaw (194%5) was after
the election of '44, and I don't racall any other example., It

was the same type of thing, to do things that really aren't true, to take ihg

blood out of the charter movement,

MRS. HINCKLE: Did the Republican Party achieve successes—qget revitalized some-
what in this period? ©0Did they benefit from the bitter expsriences
of this period?

MR. SIMS: Yr3, they did, I think; because in 1946 the Board of County Com-
missioners that were alected (five peopla), werse predominantly
Republican, and Brooka Jubns was the first Chairman {or President)

of the then Comuiissionurs., So it may be that the charter movement helpad the

Republicans al that time. Surely this wasn't the purpose ol it-=the Montgomery

County Charter Committee,



MRS. HINCKLEs  April 22, 1972. We're leading into the second Charter campaign
of 1946, Before we go into that, Mr. Sims will want to add a
few words about the Post-—war Planning Committee.
MR. SIMS: Yes, two weeks ago when you and 1 were talking about the Post-uwar
Planning Committee that the Civic Federation recommendsd in late
1944, I pointed out that the Civic Federstion had expacted to
have named by the then Board of County Commissioners, a committee of 5 or 7 or
15, but to our great surprise, there wera hundrads and hundreds namad to tha
committes, and it kept growing until it ended up with about 700 members. At t
very first meeting of this committee, at which I suppose about half of this 700
attended, the mesting being held in Silver Spring, the chairman, Col. ZE;7 Brooke
Lee, called upon Jimmy Gill to come in with a report. I seid earlier that Jimmy
Gill presented a 10-point program to improve Montgomery County. How surprised
we were that all of these ten points were things that the Charterites had been
favoringl 1 think you and I discussed briefly the matter of county home ruls,
which of course was uppermost, and then the county manager idea and centralized
purchasing. One thing that you and 1 didn't discuss et all was one that turned
out later to be closest to my heart-——that was a proposal for a civil service
systam,
prior to this time, Montgomery County had had no merit system at all. Spoils
were rampant, and this was one of the big criticisms that the Chartsrites had
made. For example, oven in campaigns, the employees of the County were not only
permitted to campaign, but were asked to campaign in many cases, Sometimes police-
men, in uniform, would go around and rap on doors and ring doorbells, as they did
in 1944, and say Lo the lady of the house, "Now you're not going to vote for this

bad old charter are you?"* "Onh, of courso not," says the lady, "of course not."

MAS. HINCKLE: Terrified]
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So the vote in 1946 was favorable. There were 13,062 voting in favor of
having a charter drafted and 10,003 against. This on a percentage basis is 57%
in favor and 43% against.

The people, in voting on having a charter drafted, at the same tims voted
on the people to do the drafting. The people that were voted to do the drafting
were Col. Norman B, Ames, who was a retired Colonel in the Army and a Professor
of Enginesring at George Washington University; he had besn a very active member
of the Charter Committee. The other four—he was the chairman-—were Howard P.
Bailey, George Rusk Canby, William C. Hanson, and James J. Hayden. Mr. Hayden
was Dean of the National Law S5chool and turned cut to be, in the 1948 campaign,
probably the most prominent debator. I believe it would be correct to say that
Col. Ames and Dean Hayden wera the most active on the Board. Again, this board
held hearings and draftad the charter thal was put befere the voters in the T
of 48,

The Montgomery County Charter Committes was egain activated. Whereas Stella
Werner had been Executive Director in the campaigns of '42 and '44 (later shs was
on tha County Council), by this time a young man who had bean brought in to halp
her in the 1944 campaign, a young man from North Carolina who had been a political
scientist and was at the time, in 1944, a law schoel student here in the District
of Columbia, was made Executive Director. This was Plummaer Shearin, He is now
one of the most able judges of the Montgomery County Circuit Court that we've
ever had, !le was brought in to our Charter Commiites staff as a stencgrapher (1),
which always amusos me, It turned out that because of his education and interest
and vitality, he did much more than that. Ha was the staff assistant and, as I

said, succeeded Mrs. Werner as Executive Director of tho Charter Committes,

MRS. HINCKLE: He was then a law student?
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MR. SIMS: He was then a law student, yes, and was nearing complstion of his
law school work {at George Washington University). There was a
lot of new blood, of course, as there always isj and wae did have

the experience of the previous campaigns and we had the experience of the first

county Charter Board, the chairman of which was frederick P. Lea.

The new Charter Board appointed an advisory committee, consisting of Mr.
Frederick P. Lee, Mrs. Edith Oinwoodey, and me, so this is how I got into the
second go-around real, real much., I had no idea I would be this active in the
second go-around. In the first qo-around, I had been primarily a listener, and
campaigner, and researcher, and nailer-upper of posters, things of that kind. Now
I was more in the middle—and enjoying it tremendously. 0One thing that the son
of Brooks Lee [fhis was Blair Lee, a membar of my Public Finance and Budget Come
mittee in 1944 and 1945, He now is Lieutenant Governor of Maryland;7 gaid Lo me
and some others ane time was, "The real big advantage you Charterites have over
the rest of us is that you're so excited about it, you so sincerely believe in
what you're doing.”" That was a gocd analysise. We were almost like missionaries;
we really believed in what we were doing.

The new Charter Hoard, as I said, held hearings around the county in appropri-
ate places., I wenl to several of them myself, testified at onc. It was always an
interesting show to me to hear what other people had to say.

Cne of the problems in gaining good government or in keeping good government
is a universal one, and that is financing. How in the world can you get people to
contribute money to something that is just a good idea when they have no ax to
grind, no property to rezons, no contract to get, no patronage to dispense? So
far as I know, all the rest of the Charterites were almost precisely the way I

was-—we had no ax to grind, we simply wanted good government. Idealists, yes, of

COUrse,
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MRS. HINCKLES Practical, too.

MR, SIMS: This time we did try to be practical, more practical than before.
We had learned a great deal, particularly in the '44 campaic
when we were campaigning against "practical" politicians. UWe,

at that time, were not practical; we got more practical as time went on.

One of the things that had been left out of the charter in 1944, to my sur-
prise—this is just an example, just to show how practical we got—was any pro=-
vision for a county-wide fire department. I thought, of course, that sounds like
a good idea, but little did I know in '42 and '43 and '44, and in '4B as a matter
of fact, that the county volunteer firemen are a special bresd. For ths most part
they*re a wonderful bunch of fellows and they do a great deal of great service,
They're volunteers, they're unpaid-—there are some that are paid too—but they
have a point of view that is worthy of consideration, and zlso they're very powerw
ful, I did'nt recalize in %42, *43, and '44 that they should be reckoned with, so
I just cavalierly said, yes, it would be a good idea to have a county-wide firs
department. But fFrederick P. Lee knew better and sa did some of the others, so
this was not in the first charter., Needless to say, it was not in the sscond
charter either, It isn't really today, though with the growth of Fhe county, wae
have gained some more county control over the fire situation, and so far as I
can tell the volunteer firemen think this is all right. We've gone some in that
direction, but we don't have what you have in many cities, a genuine 100% paid
fire department, and apparently this is working out satisfactorily. That was an
example of where fred Lee was practical in '44 and 1 would not have besny but in
Y46 and '48 8ll of us got to be more practical.

Another example is thist 1In the firsi charter, the departments of the county

were established in the chartsr; cnd in the second charter the departments, with

the sxception of finance and one other, I believe, and the county attorney's



office, were not aestablished, That was to be left up to the new council when it

was elected,

MRS, HINCKLE: How was the movement financed?

MR. SIMS: The Eharter Committee was financed simply by contributiona, nat
door to door, but just whom did you know? When you appeared at
meetings, they would ask you, 1 remember the first time I made

e contribution. It was $40, which I thought at that time was a substantial amount

of money to me, and I thought, Well, if other people do something like this, this

is great, Well, as I recall, it was only somathing like six monthe or so until

I was asked for another %40 contribution, and I remember thinking, My, what's this

noise?-~because 1 was so new to the county end so new to the way that things worked

hera, Obviously, if I was interested snough to give $40 at one time, I was a

mighty good candidate faor another $40, which it turned out that I was.

MRS. HINCKLE: bid they operate on a shoestring then, pretty much?

MR. S5IMS: Oh, yes, vary much on a shoestring. Mnost people have no idea how
much il costs even to make a mailing to every household. Now, of
course, there are radio and TV expenses and bulletins and things

of this kind. I'1l have more to say about that when I come to a campaign that

subsequently 1 was much involved in, where we van it on a tenilh of a shoestringl

The financing of the Charter Committee was just by those people who were interested

in it,

The Charter Board then was elected, and these five people were the Charter

Committee's slate,

MRS. HINCKLE: What were tho criteria for the selection of the slate?

MR. S5IMS: I can't be too specific, except to give some gensral ideas, Mrs.
Hinckle., Again, Mr. Gardner had qguito a bit to do with selecting

this group. One thing, which 1 wouldn't have thought of, was to
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be careful about partisan politics, so I'm sure that three of the five wsre

Democrats and two were Republicansj that's about as nearly split as you can get.

MRS. HINCKLE: Canby was a farmer, wasn't he?

MR. S5IMS1 Yes, that's another factor., The county as a whole was pretty well
represented, Mr. Canby was a farmer, but he wes also a banker.

He lived far up-county. Mr, Hanson owned a farm at lesast, and
lived up-county., Dean Hayden lived in Chevy Chase. Mr, Bailey lived in Silver
Spring. And Col. Ames lived in Bethesda, So you can see the county was pretty
well represented, favorably represented. In terms of population, of courss, it
was not, but neither was the old Board of County Commissioners.

Geographically, we had one Commissioner from each of those five commissioner
districts, which meant in those days that three of the commissioners cams from the
relatively rural sections of the county and that two came from down-county, sub-
urban, heavily populated areas of the county—one from Bethesda-Chevy Chase,
roughly, and one from Silver Spring—iakoma Park, roughly. This didn't actually
make any great difference in the Beard of County Commissioners, And why didn't
it? Because the Board of County Commissioners didn*t normally vote just the way
they individually wantad, becauss we had a county political machine in this county.

Mrs. Werner likes to tell the story about when she sat out listening to the
Board of County Commissioners® meetings., They were of{icially public, but nobody,
absolutely nobody, would be there except Mrs, Werner, She wrote a column in a
local newspaper called The Record, which was then published in Bethesda, and the
title of her column was simply one word, "Listening,™ And that's what she was
doingj ehe was out there listening. Sh=2 would not have any occasion to say a
word, because this was a meeting of the Board of County Commissioners, The fact

that she was there, of course, affected their cenduct. She used to say that it

would be necessary, every so often, for the President of the Board of County



Commissioners, as he was called, to recess ths meeting while ons of ths commissi -
ers went out and made a telephonse call to the county boss (Col. E, Brooke Les} to
see how they should vote on a matter. Then they would all reassemble, and hs

would pound the gavel, he would call for the vote, and they would all wvote a
certain way, as the telephone message had indicated, Mrs. Werner would record

what had happened at the meeting and put it in her M"Listening"™ column,

Mrs. Werner also had a weekly radio program, at the end of the day, around
6 o'clock as I recall, of the weekly mestings of the Board, and I remember hearing
this in the car coming home from work downlown. I was always sager to learn what
she had to say as a reporter of each meeting. But nobody ®lse was there. For a
long, long time she was the only one that came,

You'd think tnat some citizen would come, some other newspaper reporter would
come. Subsequently other newspapers did beogin to send reporters, and some citizens
did begin to attend, particulaerly ladies from the League of Women Voters; but in
these earlier days this was not the case,

MRS, HINCKLE: What was the position of the two major parties in relation to
the Charter?

MR. SIME: As I recall, the two muojor parties didn't take a position on the

Charter in 1940. Yes, they did tooj both parties were against.

I remember campaigning at my precinct, which was then the firehouse
on Connecticut Avenue across from the Chevy Chase Women's Club, and I remember
there was a poster put up there by anti-Charterites saying, "Republicans and Demo-
crats against Charter,” making it appear to anybody coming in to vote in Congros—
sional elections in 1946, which was also a county election and also the state-wids
election, that both Ropublicans an! Deomocrats were opposed to having a charter
drafted.

MRS, HINCKLEL: Were thoy really officially opposed or were they neutral?
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MAR. SIMS: This I'm not quite sure. There were lots of Republicans on both
sides of the fence and lots of Democrats on both sidesj but cer=-
tainly this particular poster was giving the imprassion that

everybody was against a charter, I think that generally speaking most Republicans

probably were slightly against the charter idea because they thought they might
get in too (might get slected to county office). Of course, the "machi 3" Demo-
crats were considerably against the charter idea because the “machine" Democrats
primarily were the faction in power. Now the dissident Democrats tended very muc
to favor the idea of a charter, whethsr they knsw much about it or not. Many

Republicans favored having a charter drafied because they thought they might have

a chance to oust the political people that were in, whc were Democrats. Whether

or not the Republicans actually took & stand officislly in 1946, I am not sure.

MRS, HINCKLE? What about other opposition groups? What did Brooke Lee do at
this time?

MR. SIMS: In 1946 there was an anti-charter figyht again. The political
machine sald, "Only two years age we voted down a charter. The
neople don't want it, Why should we gt through this again and

waste a lot of mcney and time?” In other words, they didn't want to take a chance

it would be accepted. It did come close in '44, namely 53% to 479%. When you get
that close, anything could happen. 5o they figured, "Why take a chance? Just
vote against it in %465 don't have o charter drafted, then they wouldn't have any
trouble."

They didn't win that one, and as I mentioned a while aqo, the 1946 vote was

57% in favor of having a charter drafted and only 4B% against, Our argument, "Wal)

let's just see what they come up with," turmed out to be pretty good strategy,

This good charter board was elected. They were hard workers, they held the

hearings as I mentioned, and we three on the advisory committee were real active.
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Of the three of us, fred Lee was the most active. Being a legal scholar, politi-
cal sclentist, excellent citizen that he was, he devoted a tremendous amount of
time in the fell of '46 and the winter and spring of '47 to helping the Charter
Board, I have in my files many memos that we submitted to the Charter Board,
mostly written by Fred Lee. Mrs. Dinwoodey and I would go over drafts of them
and SO 0N

I've menticned about how the second chartar differed from the first one in
that the departments were not spelled out nearly so specifically. Ancther impor=
tant point of difference was Lo overcome a criticism of the 1944 charter and that
was that if you have a County Council of nine members, {ive of them elected by
residency districts and four of 'iem without regard to residency districts, you
could end up, mathematically, with five members of the Council all cuming from one
of the five councilmanic districts,.

The district that was always picked on was Bethesda=-Chevy Chase, because
that's where most of the support for the charter idea came from, and also where
the anti-Charterites liked to say lived "rich, educated, and refined" people—
those are tha three words Col. Lee liked to use in running us down, I think a
lot of us were refined, some of us were educated, but not very many of us, so far
as I know, were rich, and that was one of our big preblems. 8ut it was pointed
out in the '44 campaign vigorously that this prospective council of nine members
could be run from Bethesda-Chevy Chase. '"fFolksg do you want that kind of charter?
Do you want that kind of government?" It was real effectiva.

So some of us met——after the dofeat of the '44 charter and after the '46
election==down at the old Cosmos Club downtown, and we got to talking about this
particular problem, and I remember pointing cut that therae was an gasy mathemat—
ical way out cf this situvation: Just have a council of seven, five elected by

rosidency distri-te and two at large. That way not even Bethesda=-Chevy Chase



could have a majority on tha council., The mast it could possibly get would be
three out of the seven, This turned out to be accepted, and it's what we hava
had every since, and as a matter of fact, the Board of Education is elected by
the same methode I have to correct myself Jjust a little bit on this "ever sir--"
business. Since the "one man, one vote" decision of the Supreme Court (Baker vs.
Carr, 1962), we have elected our council wholly at-large without any respact to
residency districts.

But I think this council-of-seven was a good idea., 1 don't mean to havso the
old=fashioned ward election, where you have somebody elected from one ward or one
cauncilmanic district and nobody else gets a chance to vote on that candidate,.
There are some people who do favor this. This is the way our Congress is formed,
for example, Each representative comes from a single-member district, Chicago
has this ward system., Many cities have the single-momber—=district form of council.
They say this has the advantage of sumebody being on the council "that you can go
to with your problems.," 1 discount this almost 100%. When we come to the Charter
Aovision Commission {1967 and 1968), I'1l have something mores to say about that,
MRS. HINCKLE: At this particular point, you knew you could get the upper county

to vote for the charter if you put this provision into the charter.
Is this the reason you did propose the seven-membsr council?
MR, SIMS: The up—county and also the eastern part of the county, Silver
Spring and Takoma Park, which were then growing very rapidly,
They really did have a point. This change did assuage their fears
and took that argument clear away {rom them,

As a matter of fact, what's so wonderful about nine membere on the council
inastgaed of seven anyway? Some peoople even sald it cught to be sleven. Chicago has
a1l If you get a very larye counril, 1l begins to becomo unwicldy. Prince Goorgs'

County right now has olovon on ila councids T noliced] oo TV Lhis past week, one

member of the presont council in PriAace LUaorye's County is saying the council is



too large and it ought to be nine or possibly saven, 50 I think that the seven
has worked out rather well here. Even under our present form of government
(adopted in 1968), there are seven members of the council.

Now we come to 1948, I guess, The charter was drafted and put in "cold
storage” six months after the election of Y46, and that gave gighteen months for
a campaign to take place. This is as a rasull of state law; this was not part of
the Charter Board's idea at all, The eighteen months is really longer than you
nead, and the six months is shorter than you need to frame it, but thet's the way
the law states.

In 1948 the guestion araose, If you do get the charter adopted, who is going
to be on the first County Council of seven members? Then an interesting thing
happened here. By this time the Democratic political organization decided thay
would not fight this. They would Fight adoption of the charter, but if the charter
is plected, is voted in, thon, they said, "Let tha Charterites have the first
County Council. If we can defeat the cherter, fine, but if we can't, let the
Charterites run the county the first time eround.™ So the Cherterites put up
seven candidates for the council, and the "machime"™ didn't put up anybody.

Neither partv actually put up anybody. There were only three other candi-
dates thet ran at all, and they ran of their own volition. They all got very few
votes,

S50 the charter was adopted, and the council that was nominated by the
Charterites did get elected, The vate in 1948 was 17,318 in favor and only

13,652 against, or S56% for and 44% anainst,



Lewis B. Sims, intervie 3d by Heler icharf, May 13, 1972

INTERVIEW 2 Charter and Council Manager Goverrment

MRS. SCHARF: You've told us that the Charter Committes slate for the first
County Council was successful at ths polls with very small opposi-
tion. What were the criteria for the choice of those candidates
for the first council as nominated by the Charter Committee?

MA, SIMS: First, Mrs. Scharf, I probably ought to say that the ringleader
in the choice of these seven penple was Mr. Allen Gardner of
Silver S5pring, a prominent attorney and the founder of the

Montgomery County Charter Committee, anu prior to that time the chairman of the

Committes on Legislation and Legal Action of ths Montgomery County Civie Federation,

He was the chairman of a committee that interviewed a good many people and made

the selaction of these seven candidates,

Of course the President of the Council (he turned out to be the President of
Lhe Council) was Fred Lee, of Bethesda. He was not nominated as the president,
he was simply nominated as a member; but he became the president by unanimous
choice of the other six, because he was so ochviously the leader of the group.

Ha had been chairman of the first Charter Board and was the chairman of the
advisory committee to the sccond Charter Board. He probably was the best informed
person about Montqomery County government in the entire county, with the possible
exception of Col. E. Brooke Lee (no connection), who cams up through the political
side, whereas Mr. trederick P. Loe come up through the civic side.

The other council members wno were nominated and cleocted were, in no particu-—
lar order, but we will honur the one lady, lcet's say, tirst, Mrs. ODorothy Himstead,
of Bethessda. Stie had been lots of things, but probably most famous was her role
as President of the Leaque of Women Voters, and T havn talked about her on pre-
vious occasions. uhe not only was President of the Montonmery County League of
vomen Voters, she was marrviod te Lne Executive Director of the American Association

of University Professors /Or. Ralpn Himstead/, and she herself was the daughter
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of the President of Northwestern University Zar. Walter Dill Scot&7, a very

bright ledy, a very good civic worker, and obviously the type person who should

be conaidered for the County Council. Perhaps the most interesting thing about

her election was that never before had a lady served on the Board of County Com-—

missioners, so this was a landmark. There have been ladies since then., In fact,
there has never been an all-male council in the 21 years of our council form of
government.

Another person on the first County Council was (Or. Lewis Meriam, who at that
time was Vice President of the Brookings Institution and the author of, at least
the director and editor of, the monumental study (by ths Brookings Institution)
of Montgomery County, the report having been published in 1940. Or, Meriam (long-
time resident of Kensington}, certainly was an obvious candidate for the first
councile

Another man that was nominaled and slected was Mr. Tom Kelly, who had been
County Attornsy in the county and was well known, lived up-county, and had a great
following among all sorts of people.

MRS, SCHARFS Mr. Sims, was Mr. Kelly a farm owﬁer?

MR. SIMSs Yes. A farm cwner, he had a beautiful farm up towards Poolssville,
and he was wsll liked by both Hepublicans and Democrats and had
nood courty service—later was a circuit judge. tHa was a severely

crippled man, but not above the nock, for sure, likeable and well motivated.

Another man was a person who up unbil that time 1 had not heard of, Mr.
Uounlas Bradshaw, of Silver bSpring, who was an attorney and a well qualified man
for the jobe. §iis actual civic or pulitical backqround I don't really know. I
know him fairly well after he was on the council, but I didn't know him at all

beforehand.
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This leaves two men to be accounted for, neither of whom had I known at all,
and neither of whom had 1 ever heard of, but both of them turned out teo be useful
members of the council, Mr. Selby and Mr. Ligon, from up-county, It probably
would not have even occurred to me, I being so much younger and less experie :ad
then than Mr. Gardner particularly, to have selected these two men, but of courss
they represented the business community and the business community by all mesans
should be represented. These two men were fairly well off financially and brought
to tha council advice and knowledge about business and commercial affairs which
some of the others would not have been as well qualified for,

This made a well-rounded council from the standpoint of general background,
interest, and knowledge.

There are two other factors that should be mentioned. Une is the geographic
distribution. According to the first charter, the people had to come from the
various commissioner or councilmanic districts. There were five councilmanic
districts, which corresponded oxactly to the old flve commissioner districts, so
that Five of these came from those districts though elected at-large. Then two
others could come {rom any place in the county and were elected at—large. Actually
one came from Bethesdé-Cheuy Chase, and one from Silver Spring-~Takoma Park-
Kensingtan,

The other function that should be clearly mentirned is the partisan one,

Were they all Democrats? All Republicans? No indeed. It woulo be nice to have
hacd them halt and half, but with an odd number like secven you cantt have them half
and half. Mr. Gardner and his committee selecied council memhers as close to half
and half as you can got, namely, four of ons parly and three of tl other party.
There were four Democrats and three Republicans selected, which mads a lot of

sense at that time because the Democratic Party had the larger registration in

the county.



I was told on several occasions by different members of the first council
that not ons single decision was ever made by the council on the basis of party
membaership. 1 think that is very significant, and I think anyone studying the
history of this county ought to be impressed with this fact, because it illus-
trates that you don't have to give any attention, in my judgment, to membarship
in a national political party if you're settling local issues. Now I know there
are some people that have contrary views to that, but 1 don't suppose that I hold
many views any more strongly than this ons, that local government should be b: ~=ad
an local issues and should have no reference to attitudes toward wars or tariffs
or things of that kind. Local government is primarily, if not exclusively, for
the benefit of local citizens. Local qovernment is for services, ard thers is no
Hepublican way of laying a streot or e Democratic way of looking after the health
of people, I am proud that this first council made no decisions cof any kind based
upon their membership in political parties.

Now we might turn to the question of accomplishments of this first council,
Would this be a good tima to do thal, Mru. Scharcf?

MRS. SCHARF: O, yes. Was this first council the success that was envisioned
for it?

MR. SIMS2 1 used to say, 1 still du, that this council was blue-ribboned and
gilt-edgeds and I've also said thal I cannot imagine any better
local governing body in any county or city or other local govern—

ment in the United States than this first County Council. 1t was simply the best

you could find. [he devotion to their tasks was incredible. The time that they
gpent was incredible. The motivation, particularly on the part of those who had
been in on the early workings of this (and thesa would ba primarily President Lee,

Dorothy Himstead, and Lowis fMeriam, bul to a great extent Tom Kelly also) was

Jjust great.
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S0 what did this council do? First of all, they set a tone for the local
governing body that had never been set before. It was about as great a contrast
as you could get, if you compare the old county commissioners, which were
selected by the county political machine and sent around like chessman, I
remembar in cne four-year term we had three different presidents of the B d
af County Commissicners because the political machine just moved the president
around from one place to another, such as the Washington Suburban Sanitary
Commission, and back. So the new tone was jusi great. There was no hint of
dishonesty or dealing, no hint of rezoning of propserty to bsnefit either the
members themselves or anybody else. These seven people were simply there ta
facilitate fine honest local qovernment and to improve the services to the
citizens.

The second thing I should mention was the loadership by President frad Lee,.
He served buih of the two years as president. This seemed sensible to mej it
seemed sensible to all the othar six menbers of the council. And I'm sure it
must have seemen sensible te Fred Lee himeelf, though he had altready given an
unbelisvable amount of time. Bul he clearly was the leader of the councgil and
an excellent chairman,

The leadership that hs set, also, 1 should have thounght, would have sstab-
lished a precedent that council members would select among themselves the person
most obvious as the leader. This did not take place after the first County
Councilt. In fact, it has been traditisnal ever since for the presidency of the
council to rotate. This is not in the Charter. It was nnt in the plan of anybody.
Who originated it I do not know, but I remembine in the second council the first
president was selected, and le and brhold at the close nof the first year somebody
glse on the council was selscted. That established the precedent of rntating.

Ever since then wo have had a different president of tho council every single

year.
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MRS, SCHARF 3 1s that good?

MR. SIMS: I think it's terribls.

MRS. SEHARF@ 1 would think so, The leadership abruptly changes too often.

MR. SIMS: 0f course, you can luck out. You can happen to have a person who
had had great experience and familiarity with the government and
could slide into the presidency as nicely as can be, but this

doesn't really happen too often. We have been fortunate a few times, but I think

this is clearly the exception., This accomplishment, of the most logical person
being selected as the President, and that same person sarving &s long as he is
willing to serve, I would classify as an accomplishment of the first County Coun-
cil, even though the idea fell to the ground. At least we have some history to
noint to, and some day maybe we can get back to this kind of thing,.

The next thing I would mention as an accomplishmant aof the first County
Council was the appointment of tho first county maneqer. 1I'va referred to this
earlier, but I probably ought to mention it here in this connection. The first
county manager appointed was Mr. Irvina G. McNayr, who had been the so-called
county supervisor--in other words a sort of weok bounty manager type—under the
old Board of County Commissioners, Zﬁr. MeNayr had succeedsd Mr. Willard Day.
Barely 30, he held a master's deqree in public administration from the University
of Alabama. Mr. Sims lists the appointment as an "accomplishment® because it set
a precedent—a man oducated in public administration, with local management experi~
encq;7 At least he was there. He knew a lot about the County, he was profession=
ally educated in Llhe field of public adninistration, he was vigorous. He was a
logical candidate at least, and many thouaht the logical appointee. He had taken
some strong positions on things, even thouch his own prst was a weak one, and the
result was that ne had made sowme enemies and a lot of friends. The Council was
divided on hiz appeointment, tul Lhey d¢id appoinl Mo, MeNayr as the first county

mangger—-by a vote of 4 to 5. 1t's irfwiesting to note Lhat the three who voted



against him went right around to his office immediately afterwards and said openly

that they had voted sgainst him, but that they had been outvoted, and now the

seven would work together, and they would work with Mr, McNayr as hard as they
could to make this first county government under the council-manager form of
government successful.

MR5. SCHARF: Did they give reasons for their "no" vote?

MR, SIMS: As 1 understand it, they did. Some thought that the position he
took on some things was not to their liking; others thought he was
unduly outspoken, particularly for & man occupying not even the

position of county maneger but oniy county supervisor. In fact, I remembser

myself, when I was a delegate to the Monigomsry County Civic federation, Mr.

MeNayr had come to a meeting to address use. 1 forget what the subject was, but

ne came right out appearing before the assemhled Civic Fedesration and took a

position on something. I, having been educated in the field of public adminiatra-

tion also, and being a little older, thounht T was free to say to him after the
mpoting that I was a pit surprised that he would be this outspoken. He didn't
back down at all, but said to me-—and I think there were two or three others
standing around==that he really knew about this particular matter and the County

Commissioners aidn't, There again, I was surprised that he would be this frank,

But this was Mac, and a lot of people liked this, and a lot of people didn't, I

think that had something to do with the nenative vote of three of the members,

But he was appointed. He was extremely well-motivated, he was a hard worker, and

1 think on the whole you'd have to say he made a success.

MRS, SCHARF: Would you say that this is the ideal role for the county manager,
or is he supposed to keep his opinions tu himself and carry orders
ocut?

MR. S1MSt Iherels been a big change in this respect in Lhe history of thua

council-managur mouvuement. In the early days, that being 1913,



and from there on to about the end of World War II, the philosophy was that any
city manager—in our case the county manager-——was simply a ssrvant of his council
and was to do their bidding. He didn't have strong opinions, or if he did have
them he didn't exercise them didn't make them known-~becavse he was only the
employee, the top employee to be sure, but he was only the amployee of ...s council.
In fact, if he did take any position of leadership in many communities, he kept it
kind of a secret. [ romembar a friend of minea who had a Ph.D., in public adminis~-
tration and was the city manager of Portland, Maine, saying to me with a glint in
his eye, "I get along fine with my council. 0o you know what I do? 1 tell them,
‘Council members, you tell me what to do and I do it.,' And we just get along fine."
And then he added, "Actually, I give them all sorts of suggestionsj they hardly
realize it,"

This was 25 years ago. WNow the philosophy is quite a bit different and I
think probably should be. It makes it difficult for the manager, but unless the
council is wxtremely strong, extremely well-qualified, extremely knowledgeabluws,
and unless Lhey know what they want, then they depend an thn manager to oring in
new ideas, to bring in maybe alternative ideas and say, "Here is a problem and I
nava two possible solutions, Council membars, solution A and solution B. @f the
two, if you went me to, I will tell you which is my preference, but at least here
are two solutiont." 50, depending on the conneil, the manager may tell them what
his-chuica is ot may not. In the lnng run pow, T think tnis is probably a good
idea, even if the council is fairly slrung, because we don't wanl the manager just
to be a strong routinme man, we wani him te be an idea man, If the council doesn't

like what the managur recoumernds Lo thom, then of courwn the mananger has to no

ulong with the council.

MHS. SCHARF 3 If a manager is too creative or forceful in recommendations, is
his curvival jeoparriizen?
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The people were brought together a great deal more; they knew where they
were. This was 8 visual accomplishment that made me feel kind of good—and
wasn't terribly expensive.

Another specific accomplishment which now I would clearly cite, though I was
worried about it at first, was that the first County Council decided to have a
public library system and to establish a Department of County Libraries. Prior
to that time we had a library in Beiheovda, one in Kensington, ons in Takoma Park,
ate. Some of these were municipal libraries, but the one in Bethesda was noverned
by just a committes.

Now the County Council was goinn to have a county-wide library system., I
remember thinkinq at the time (I was on the County Personnsl Board and I was hear-
ing the news) and 1 was dismayed. [ thounht this woulu not be popular with the
citizens of Montgomery County; this would be cited by the old political machine
as a lavish and unnecessary expenditure by thess people who were "cultured, refined,
and rich.," 1'm happy to say that I was wronc in this respect., The library system
has proven to be very successful, and reslly it isn't terribly expensive, A
library system is nothina compared with—especially schools—-bul also with nealth,
welfare, and streets and the other local oovernmgntal functions; and it does lend
an air of class to the cammunity.

I remember how ths first director of public libraries, Mr. Moreland, was
srlected by the County {ouncil. He had formerly been on tha staff of the Dis® ‘ct
of Columbia library system and had gone elsewhere to a distant state, and he was
interested in coming back to metropolitan Washington. When this job was opened,
he came down and made a presentation to tie County Council which was tremendously
yood. He had a viswal presanbation, and he talked convincinnly. He was selected
over all the other candidates. Some ¢f them were very good, but Mr, Moreland was

absolutsly outstanding., He served for many years in this position, about sixteen












MAS. SCHARF1 Did you have compensation at this time?

MR. SImMS: We had compensation of $10 per person per mesting, not to exceed
$600 in any ona calendar year. We didn't take office until March
(and 1%11 say in a minute how we were appointad). We ran out of

monay in October of that ysar because we had to have so many meetings. The result

was that we served the following months of the calendar year 1949 without pay. It

didn't make a bit of difference as to how much time we put iny we put in exactly

the same amount of time.

We met every Wednesday night, and wae also mat almost every Saturday morning,
and frequently we would work into part of Saturday afternoon also. The Council
was invariably there on Saturdays, =0 we saw the Council a great deal and frequently
went to lunchwith the Council and the county manager. There were very few res-
taurants at that time, so this meant we had to get into a few cars and drive up
what wa now call the Hockville Pike to have lunch. We all enjoyed this very much
because thern wue ot betber acquainted.

1his may be the proper time tn say hoew did we three pecple net appointed to
the County Persornel Board, After thwe Council was elected (November 7, 1948}, the
first thing thay had to do was talk aboulippointing the county manager and gt
things rollina. Then in February of 1949, #ir. Fred Lee called me on the telephono
and asked me if 1 would have any sunnestions of people who might be suitable for
the County Persoennel Board, I said, "Well, ired, I would have, why sure, but 1
would like to have a couple of days." 5o I guickly set to work to get up some
nemes that would he appropriate, 1 called people, but 1 had some people's names
in my mind almost immediately. 1 remember wending Mr. Lee ten names, and I tried
to make them geoqraphically distributed around and various other gqualifications,

1 didn't know that any one of them would be able and willing to serve or would not

be willing to serve, but 1 was fairly sure that all of them would be fairly well
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I had recently come to the Public Health Service when the opportunity
to serve on the County Personnel Board took place.

Meanwhile, in the summer of .48 I had really had a taste of personnel
work, This was when I was on the Personnel Task Force of the first Hoover

Commission,s I can hardly imagine a better experience for what later was mine

on the County Personnel Board.










































































